2/22 JAN 28 1994 RK. SUPREME COURT. Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SUSAN K. GLANT,

Case No. 81,757

Petitioner/Respondent,

vs.

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Respondent/Complaintant.

# PETITIONER'S AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF

PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM THE REPORT OF THE REFEREE

The Florida Bar vs. Susan K. Glant (Before A. Referee) TFB No. 92-30,837 (07B)

> Susan K. Glant 4118 N.W. 69th Street Gainesville, Florida 32606 (904) 373-7663

#

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

The Petitioner/Respondent, SUSAN K. GLANT, files this Amended Initial Brief to her Petition For Review pursuant to this Court's Order dated January 14, 1994 (Appendix 34).

This cause was not intiated by a client of the Petitioner/Respondent. It was personally initiated by Larry Carpenter of THE FLORIDA BAR after he had investigated a complaint filed by the Petitioner against her former employer, Jonathan Hewitt of Central Florida Legal Services (Appendix 11, p.484-485). The intiation process was not in the form of an affidavit, but merely by filing the adverse ruling of an unemployment appeals referee against the Petitioner in the then pending case of <u>Susan K. Glant v. Central Florida Legal Services and the Florida Unemployment Appeals</u> Commission, Case No. 91-4165, Fla. 1st DCA, <u>immediately after</u> the Appellant had filed a Notice of Appeal in that case (Appendix 1; Appendix 2; Appendix 4, p.135).

The Petitioner was asked by THE FLORIDA BAR to explain the unemployment appeals referee's finding that the claimant (the Petitioner):

sent a 14 page motion and a personal cover letter to the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services asking them to further investigate her client's case. As the claimant also admitted to her supervisor on July 29, 1991, she sent the information to HRS without her client's knowledge and after the client specifically instructed her not to do so. (Appendix 1, p.14; Appendix 2, p.8).

The Petitioner replied "HOW CAN MY CLIENT INSTRUCT ME TO DO SOMETHING WHICH SHE HAS NO KNOWLEDGE OF?" (Appendix 2, p.9,17). This is the tenor of this case.

The Petitioner/Respondent was originally charged with four rule violations:

- 4-1.2(a) For failing to abide by a client's decisions concerning the objectives of representation;
- 4-1.6 For revealing confidential information relating to the representation of a client;
- 4-8.4(a) For violating/attempting to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct;
- 4-8.4(c) For engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation; and
- 4-8.4(d) For engaging in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice. (Appendix 3, p.132).

Grievance Committee"B" of the Seventh Judicial Circuit, State of Florida, sitting in Palatka, Putnam County, found a violation of Rule 4-1.2(a), and by unanimous vote found no probable cause regarding possible violations of Rules 4-1.6 and 4-8.4(a),(c) and (d), (Appendix 11, p.501). The Grievance Committee recommended a finding of minor misconduct to be administered by a letter of admonishment from the chair of the committee (Appendix 11, p.501; Appendix 6, p.243).

At its March 1993 meeting the Board of Governors of THE FLORIDA BAR voted to overturn the finding of minor misconduct by the Seventh Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "B" and entered a finding of probable cause against the Petitioner (Appendix 6, p.244). The Petitioner was charged with violating Rule of Professional Conduct 4-1.2(a) for failing to abide by a client's decisions regarding the objectives of representation (Appendix 8, p.268). The Petitioner set forth in her Answer and Request For Attorney's Fees the affirmative defenses of Rule of Professional Conduct 4-1.6(b)(2) which requires an attorney to "reveal such information to the extent the lawyer believes necessary to prevent death or substantial bodily harm to another"; and Florida Evidence Code §90.502(4)(a) which states there is no lawyer-client privilege "when the services of the lawyer were sought or obtained to enable or aid anyone to commit or plan to commit what the client knew was a crime" (Appendix 10, p.289). The Appellant also requested attorney's fees under Florida Statutes 57.105 for THE FLORIDA BAR knowingly making false statements of material fact and law to the tribunal in violation of Rule 4-3.3(a)(1), and for bringing a case which lacks justicible issues of law or fact (Appendix 10, p.290).

On April 22, 1991, the Petitioner began working for Central Florida Legal Services as a staff attorney (Appendix 19, p.686; Appendix 10, p.287). Jonathan Hewett was Appellant's supervising attorney (Appendix 24, p.843). In the middle of May 1991 Jonathan Hewett assigned to the Petitioner a juvenile dependency case involving four minor children, Case No. 89-654-657-CJ, Seventh Judicial Circuit, Putnam County (Appendix 24, p.843; Appendix 30, p.1028, 1031). Petitioner's client was the children's natural mother, Robin Ricks (Appendix 24, p.785). The children's

natural father, John Robert Ricks, was not represented by Central Florida Legal Services (App. 24, p.785, 798, 837; App.27, p.992). Prior to the Petitioner's appearance in the case, Jonathan Hewett was the attorney of record for Robin Ricks (App. 24, p.785-86, 791, 834-35, 859-60). On January 23, 1991, while Mr. Hewett was representing the client, custody of the two minor girls was given to Robin Ricks, and custody of the two minor boys was awarded to John Ricks (App. 24, p.787, 821-25, 837-42, 871; App. 16, p.646-47). The Petitioner was given the case by Mr. Hewett solely to represent the client at the final dispositional hearing on June 27, 1991 (App. 24, p.856, 863). Upon receipt of the file the Petitioner immediately contacted the client (App. 24, p.921; App. 30, p.1028). The Petitioner drafted the Natural Mother's Motion For Custody Of All Children from the documents in the file at Central Florida Legal Services and upon a review of the court file (App.24, p.961,982; App.30, p.1028). The Motion was prepared and ready to file on the day of the final dispositional hearing (App.11, p.463). The Motion was never filed (App.11, p.460).

Court Records show that on January 11, 1989, Kristina Ricks (age 8), John Ricks (age 5), Michelle Ricks (age 4) and Charles Ricks (age 3) were taken into custody by the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services (HRS) since Robin Ricks' whereabouts were unknown and John Ricks had been arrested and was in jail on January 11, 1989 (App.27, p.997). The children were already under Voluntary Protective Supervision due to prior neglect reports received against the parents: 3/21/88 - confirmed for neglect; 10/5/88 - unfounded for inadequate food; 12/13/88 - inadequate clothing (App.27, p.997; App.16, p.569-576). On January 26, 1989, the Petition For Dependency was dismissed and the children released to their mother (App.30,p.1034).

On May 23, 1989, HRS received an abuse report alleging medical neglect, inadequate clothes and other threatened harm. Both the mother and father were listed as the alleged perpetrators (App.27, p.997):

It was alleged that the children's father had custody of the children and that HRS was called when he neglected the children by keeping them dirty, not feeding them, or sending them to school. The father was sent to jail on charges unknown to the reporter and as a result, custody of the children was given to the mother. The mother also neglected the children by keeping

them dirty and not following through with medical appointments for Michelle who is deaf and needs medical care. The mother was arrested a few days prior to the report and left the children with her mother who was not able to care for them. The father was released from jail and wanted custody of the children, but HRS did not want him to have custody due to past neglect. It was also learned that the father had recently been in court for attacking and stabbing a child which was not one of his own. (App.27, p.997).

The children were placed in foster homes on May 24, 1989. Charles and Michelle were placed with Glenda Johns, and John and Kristina with June Parker (App.27, p.997).

The children did very well while in shelter status. There was no significant behavior change on the part of any of the children while in shelter (A.27,p.997-8). The father contested the HRS petition. At the hearing on June 22, 1989, the children were adjudicated to be dependent. Circuit Judge Robert E. Lee told the father he would consider returning the children to him if he had his own residence (App.27,p.997). John Ricks subsequently found a two-room apartment in Palatka.

On July 6, 1989, Judge Lee placed the children in the custody of the father under protective services of HRS with the provisions that the parents complete 15 week of parenting classes, provide stable housing for the children, provide financially for the children, bathe the children daily and provide three daily meals, enroll Michelle in a program for the hearing impaired and keep all appointments scheduled for her, provide medical and dental care for the children, cooperate with the assigned homemaker, and enroll Charles in a day care five days a week. The mother was in jail in Ocala at the time of this hearing (App.30,p.1036). The father at this time had

no income but it is anticipated that he will receive Michelle's SSI checks and will receive AFDC for himself and the three other children (A.27,p.998).

At the time John Ricks was awarded custody he had a fairly extensive criminal history. He was first arrested in 1969 for going AWOL from the army. He had two DUI's. In 1978 he spent 51 weeks in the county jail for possession of marijuana. In 1980 he was charged with sexual battery but never prosecuted. In 1985 he was charged with indecent exposure. In 1987 he was charged with aggravated battery for stabbing a man in a barroom fight. The police responded to numerous spouse abuse calls (A.16,p.616).

Fifteen days after John Ricks was given custody, the children were picked up by HRS. This Petition For Dependency filed on July 25, 1989, alleged that the father

was so intoxicated/stoned on July 21st that he could not get up the stairs without assistance, and there was blood on his neck and shirt due to a fight (App.16,p.583). He attempted to abscond with the children when he learned that HRS intended to take the children into custody, but was stopped by the Palatka police. While in shelter Michelle Ricks (age 4) was observed sexually acting out. HRS received a report on August 22, 1989, that:

Michelle had been observed masturbating and acting inappropriately with her dolls, including removing their clothes and kissing the dolls between their legs. It was suspected that the child may have been sexually abused by the father. The physical exam was inconclusive and Michelle is not able to communicate verbally because she is severly hearing impaired (A.16, p.583).

The Petitioner does not have a record of <u>Michelle</u> being examined on September 5, 1989 (the Petitioner does not have a copy of the Court file of Case No.89-654-657-CJ; however, that court file should be in the Record as provided by THE FLORIDA BAR). Kristine Ricks was examined on that date, and her physical exam by the Child Protection Team states "we cannot rule in or rule out sexual abuse by physical exam" (App.16, p.582). On that date, Kristina had "a pinpoint vaginal orifice without scars, lesions or discharge" (App.16, p.581). On September 7, 1989, Judge Lee again adjudicated the four children to be dependent and ordered them into foster care. HRS's report on that date stated:

it is the agency's position that protective services has not and will not be effective because the parents are not yet motivated or capable of taking care of their children...If the children are returned to the parents at this time, we face the almost certain prospect of receiving additional neglect reports and being put in the position of removing the children once again. (App.16, p.583).

The Court should be aware of information prior to a decision on the children's future. Mr. Ricks has many tendencies of a sociopath. He is very manipulative and will use all means to gain whatever he wants. He is attempted to manipulate counselors, his landlord, churches, and anyone else who is in a position to help him. According to those who know him best, Mr. Ricks will do whatever is necessary to obtain the children so that he might receive SSI for Michelle and AFDC income for the other children. He has never been one to readily support the children for himself. His children are his meal ticket. There are concerns about possible sexual abuse of the children in addition to Michelle behaving inappropriately, it has been noticed that Kristina seems to have reversed roles and has become the mother figure in the household. Mr. Ricks has lied to the agency several times in the past.... It has been alleged that Mr. Ricks often frequents the waterfront which is an area known to be concentrated with male and female prostitutes as well

as drugs. In each referral in which the agency has been involved, parenting has always been marginal at best. (App.16, p.584).

On October 31, 1989, a Performance Agreement was filed with the court, the goal of which was to return the children to the parents by November 3, 1990 (App. 16, p.585). It was not signed by either parent. The Agreement acknowledged that the father had a history with HRS of neglect and instability in housing and employment dating back to January 1, 1988, that he did not obtain special education for Michelle (hearing impaired), and that hearing aids were obtained for Michelle but he "sold this hearing equipment for his personal use" (App.16, p.586). The Agreement required the father to be evaluated for drugs and alcohol, complete random uring testing, maintain steady employment, and find suitable housing for the children. The Agreement required the mother to be evaluated for drug and alcohol abuse and successfully complete any recommended treatment, to maintain steady employment, to find suitable housing, and to attend to the medical and educational needs of Michelle (App.16, p.589). The hearing on the Review of the Performance Agreement was held on November 27, 1989; Judge Lee's Order was entered December 5, 1989 (App.30, p.1038).

On March 6, 1990, HRS filed a Petition For Review. In the Case Plan Update filed March 8, HRS recommended that the children continue in foster care. It was alleged that the father had a history of alcohol and crack cocaine abuse, that he still had no home but was currently residing with his Alcoholics Anonymous sponsors, and that he still had no job. The mother was residing in Ocala and was employed at a laundry. Neither parent was in substantial compliance with the Performance Plan. In the Order on Judicial Review, filed March 8, 1990, Judge Lee continued the children in foster care for six months and ordered the parents to comply by November 3, 1990. At the hearing on the Motion To Review on April 10, 1990, the children were to remain in foster care and the father was to visit weekends.

On July 5, 1990, HRS filed a Petition For Review. HRS's Case Plan Update, filed July 6, 1990, stated that the parents were in substantial compliance with the Plan and recommended returning the two older children to the parents and

continuing Michelle and Charles in foster care. On July 10, 1990, three letters were filed. Byrant Lovelace stated that the father had been employed full-time for two (2) weeks at Bryant Upholstery. Suzanne Grimes stated that the children would be allowed to live in her adults only mobile home park until the father found housing elsewhere. Margaret Walker, substance abuse therapist at Putnam County Guidance Clinic stated that the father had been sober for a year. There was no mention of the court-ordered urine testing for drug abuse. The mother was not present at the dispositional hearing on July 10, 1990. Judge Lee found that the mother had failed to comply with the Performance Agreement by not visiting the children regularly. The father was found to be in significant compliance with the Agreement. Kristina and John were returned to their father, and the case set for a 90-day review to return Charles and Michelleto their father. By August 1990, all four children were once again in their father's custody. In returning the children to their father Judge Lee ignored clear warning signals by HRS (App.27, p.997-99; App.16, p.583-84), the fact that the father was obviously not in compliance with the Agreement since he still had no stable housing or employment, and no proof of urine testing for drugs, the father's propensity for violent crimes, some of which were against children, and the fact that one of his children whom he had custody of was sexually acting out while in shelter. The sexual abuse was not addressed by the Agreement or the court.

Within four weeks, on October 4, 1990, all four children were taken into custody by HRS and returned to the same foster homes they had been in for a year (App.16, p.623). When the four children were taken into custody, they were all

suffering from nose, ear and throat infections requiring antibiotics. Kristy had been sent home from school two days prior with a temperature of 103. Yet, Mr. Ricks had made no attempts to obtain medical attention for her and, in fact, had her walking to downtown Palatka and back to the house. Kristy was also suffering from urinary tract infection (A.16,p.624).

The children were taken into custody because on October 3, 1990, HRS received a sex abuse referral. The Protective Investigator from HRS made initial contact on that date and reported that Mr. Ricks was not cooperative (App.16, p.623).

School professionals "report a drastic change in Michelle's emotional behavior which coincided with her sexual acting out behavior...Michelle was manifesting signs of extreme distress on October 3 and 4, 1990" (App.16,p.607). "Michelle was seen by the school bus driver to be playing in a rather sexually explicit manner with the genital area of a doll on the school bus" (App.16, p.595). The Shelter Petition filed by HRS on October 8, 1990, alleges that the father kept the children home from school, that he was under investigation for the sexual abuse of Michelle, and that the father told the Protective Investigator that he did notwant him or anyone else from HRS talking to his children.

All the children were seen at the Family Medical and Dental on Saturday, October 6, 1990, in Palatka, where they were put on medication for infections (App.16, p.595). Kristy and Michelle were interviewed by the Child Protection Team on October 9, 1990 (App.16,p.595-99). There is no record of Charles and John being interviewed by the Child Protection Team in October 1990. There is no record of a rape kit being performed on either of the two girls in October 1990.

The HRS Report To The Court, undated (App.16, p.623-628), with the Child Protection Team Reports of October 6, 1990, attached, reports to the court that:

Michelle, a six year old, profoundly deaf child, who cannot communicate, has been acting out sexually and signing, "Daddy" since her return to his custody. This has occurred on the school bus, in school and on two occasions in the foster home. This action had not occurred prior to her return to Mr. Ricks' custody. Kristina, a nine year old child, denies any sexual activity, but demonstrates physical symptoms consistent with sexual abuse. Kristina's foster mother, June Parker, reports that following Kristina's unsupervised visits with Mr. Ricks, she noticed stains on her underwear. This had not happened prior to those visits. (App.16, p.623). A C.F.T. examination of Kristina on September 5, 1989, found a pin-point vaginal orifice. On October 9, 1990, a C.P.T. examination showed a significant change in the vaginal orifice. (see report attached). (App.16, p.624; see also letter of Sept.5, 1989 at App.16, p.581-82).

On October 9, 1990, the Child Protection Team reported as to Kristina:

The child cooperated well for three positional genital examination with photography. No discharge is detected. There is no evidence of irritation or any abnormality whatsoever. With spreading of the labia majora there is mild gaping of the hymenal opening. With traction applied to the labia majora, the hymenal opening measures approximately 10 millimeters anteriorly posteriorly by 5 millimeters transversely. The posterior hymenal membrane appears quite narrowed with very little free border at the 6 o'clock position. The right hymenal membrane is narrow measuring approximately 1 millimeter compared to a left hymenal membrane measuring 2 to 2.5 millimeters. In the knee-chest position the openings to the hymenal membrane are approximately the same however, the posterior hymenalmembrane pulls down somewhat revealing a free border of approximately 2 to possibly 3 millimeters. The entire contents of the vaginal canal are easily visualized with a pediatric otoscope (App.16, p.596).

F. Thomas Weber, M.D., Project Medical Director, Historian & Examiner, University

of Florida Department of Pediatrics, Gainesville, examined both girls. As to Michelle:

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