SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK SUPREME COURT

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Chief Deputy Clerk

Complainant,

Case No. 81,757 [TFB Case No. 92-30,837 (07B)]

₿y

SUSAN K. GLANT,

v.

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 Attorney No. 123390

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 Attorney No. 217395

and

LARRY L. CARPENTER Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 880 North Orange Avenue Suite 200 Orlando, Florida 32801 (407) 425-5424 Attorney No. 312614

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

said to be erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support given the respondent's total lack of evidence to support her claim. While the respondent asserts the bar did not present any evidence to rebut her claim about the memo, the respondent did not present any evidence in support of her claim.

In defending her conduct, the respondent has cited R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.6(b)(2) which states, "a lawyer shall reveal such information to the extent the lawyer believes necessary to prevent a death or substantial bodily harm to another". The respondent has continually stated that her client, Robin Ricks, told her that she knew her children were being sexually abused by That, together with the documentation, supposedly their father. convinced the respondent the Ricks children, particularly the two girls, were in danger of being attacked by their father. (T.Vol.II pp. 181-182). However, Ms. Ricks never testified either before the grievance committee or during the final hearing that she knew her children were being abused by Mr. Ricks. During the grievance committee hearing on January 15, 1993, Ms. Ricks testified concerning her daughter Michelle:

I believe that it's--anything's possible, you know, yeah. I believe something was happening. She was drawing lewd pictures. You know, I mean, she had to see it somewhere, I mean, but, you know, I can't say that I know because I don't know, you know". (T.Vol.I p. 38).

Grievance committee member Whiteman asked Ms. Ricks if she believed the sexual abuse allegations were true and whether she

communicated that belief to the respondent. Ms. Ricks replied, "More or less, yes". (T.Vol.I p. 38). However, during the final hearing, Ms. Ricks testified regarding her prior grievance committee testimony:

A - Well, still, at that--you know, I mean, I didn't remember saying yes, but right now at this time do I think that it was happening or it's happening, no, I don't. And at that time, I may have told you during the hearing process that maybe I did think it was happening, but that was--didn't that just say Michelle, right?

Q - You said she was drawing lewd pictures.

A - Right. Michelle, right. That wouldn't have had anything to do with Charles or Johnny, would it? (T.Vol.I pp. 39-40).

Ms. Ricks testified that she did not seek custody of her two boys because she did not feel capable of taking care of all four children, her husband was threatening to "drag out" the custody proceedings if she did not agree to the custody arrangement, and she thought it was possible she could lose custody of the two girls if she sought custody of the two boys as well. (T.Vol.I pp. 35, 42-43). Apparently, those reasons were not sufficient for the respondent. Regardless, Ms. Ricks was not sure if Robert Ricks or anyone else had or was sexually abusing any of the children. Ms. Ricks testified that she did not believe the custody arrangement, with her having custody of the two girls and Mr. Ricks having custody of the two boys, would place any of the children in danger. (T.Vol.I p. 15). The custody arrangement for her children was Ms. Ricks' decision to make, not the respondent's.

In her brief, at page 39, the respondent lists seven reasons why she sent the letter and motion to HRS and the other governmental agencies. However, those reasons do not indicate why her doing so would prevent death or bodily harm to the children consistent with Rule 4-1.6(b)(2). The fact remains that the referee considered the respondent's position that under Rule 4-1.2(d) there could be no violation of Rule 4-1.2(a) in her case. The referee also weighed the respondent's defense under Rule 4-1.6(b)(2). However, the referee determined that the respondent's arguments in regard to those rules were insufficient, based upon the evidence, to absolve her of the misconduct for which she was charged. The respondent is asking this Court to retry this case. This is evident throughout her Amended Initial Brief where she continually reargues her case under the guise of addressing specific issues from the referee's report.

This Court's review of a referee's findings of fact is not in the nature of a trial de novo in which the Court must be satisfied that the evidence is clear and convincing. The responsibility for finding facts and resolving conflicts in the evidence is placed with the referee. <u>The Florida Bar v. Hoffer</u>, 383 So. 2d 639 (Fla. 1980); <u>The Florida Bar v. Hooper</u>, 509 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 1987).

There was no error in the referee's findings of fact regarding Rules 4-1.2(d) and 4-1.6(b)(2) because they were based upon the respondent's own admissions and testimony as well as other substantial, competent evidence.

ISSUE II

THE REFEREE WAS NOT IN ERROR AS A MATTER OF FACT AND LAW IN REFUSING TO DIRECT A VERDICT IN FAVOR OF THE RESPONDENT.

During the final hearing, the respondent moved for a directed verdict. The referee heard the respondent's arguments and the bar's response and found that the bar had made a prima facie case and had met the burden of clear and convincing evidence with respect to the rule charged against the respondent, Rule 4-1.2(a). The referee denied the respondent's motion. (T.Vol.II p. 134). During closing arguments, the respondent renewed her motion for directed verdict. The referee ruled that having heard all of the evidence, she was denying the respondent's motion. (T.Vol.II p. 195). The respondent obviously disagrees with the referee's ruling on her motion for directed verdict and has decided to rearque it for this Court under Issue II of her brief. Again, the respondent wants this Court to substitute it's judgment for that of the referee's concerning the facts of this case.

A referee's findings of fact are presumed correct and will be upheld unless clearly erroneous. The standard on review is whether those findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, and this Court will not substitute its judgment for the referee's. <u>The Florida</u> Bar v. Della-Donna, 583 So. 2d 307 (Fla. 1989).

The referee considered the respondent's arguments concerning her motion for directed verdict and heard the bar's response and determined there were insufficient grounds for granting the motion. This was similar to the bar's motion for summary judgment which,

earlier in this proceeding, the referee also denied after hearing both the bar's and the respondent's positions in the matter. In both instances, the referee rendered her decision based upon the evidence. It is the referee's responsibility to evaluate the evidence and rule on the pleadings and motions submitted. Inevitably, one party will not prevail. The respondent simply does not like the fact the referee denied her motion. In that regard, it is inappropriate for the respondent to, in effect, reargue her motion for a directed verdict before this Court.

ISSUE III

THE REFEREE WAS NOT IN ERROR AS A MATTER OF LAW IN FINDING THE RESPONDENT GUILTY OF VIOLATING R. REGULATING FLA. BAR 4-1.2(a).

In her amended initial brief, the respondent cites the comment sections to Rule 4-1.2 and 4-1.6 as well as case law in support of her position that she was justified in sending the letter and motion to HRS because Robert Ricks was sexually abusing his children and she was trying to prevent further harm to the children at the hands of their father. She has also condemned her own client as participating in criminal acts because Ms. Ricks did not want to request custody of her two boys and was going to allow visitation by Mr. Ricks with the two girls. However, the referee made specific findings of fact based, in large part, upon the respondent's own testimony that 1) the respondent sent the letter and motion to HRS; 2) that the respondent knew her client only wanted HRS supervision over her family to be terminated; and 3) that the respondent knew by sending the letter and motion to HRS that she was not abiding by her client's objectives of the representation in violation of Rule 4-1.2(a). Although the respondent has admitted she is quilty of the misconduct charged, she asserts that the referee has committed some error in her findings that the respondent is guilty of the misconduct charged.

Pursuant to R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.5(k)(1)(A), the referee's findings of fact "shall enjoy the same presumption of

correctness as the judgment of the trier of fact in a civil proceeding".

The presumption of correctness of the judgment of a trier of fact in a civil proceeding prohibits the appellate court from reweighing the evidence and substituting its' judgment for that of the trier of fact. <u>Hooper</u>, supra. (At p. 291).

Despite the respondent's admissions that her conduct violated Rule 4-1.2(a), she does not believe that what she did was wrong. The respondent wants this Court to change the facts and find that she was justified in her conduct.

In a recent bar disciplinary case, another attorney was found quilty of engaging in conduct against his client's wishes. In The Florida Bar v. Hayden, 583 So. 2d 1016 (Fla. 1991), the attorney was representing the wife in an uncontested dissolution of marriage Despite his client's instructions to the contrary, the action. attorney pursued a contempt action against the former husband for non-payment of an alimony judgment. His client had specifically told him not to pursue a contempt action. The referee found that the attorney had used the contempt action as leverage against them in order to force them to pay his attorney's fees. The divorce judgment did not include a provision for payment of his fees. The Court found that the attorney had a prior disciplinary record and together with the intentional nature of the attorney's conduct and his selfish motivation, the Court ordered that the attorney receive a six (6) month suspension.

It could be argued that the <u>Hayden</u> case should be distinguished from the instant matter in that the respondent in this case was not acting selfishly as she was only concerned about the welfare of the children. However, the bar asserts that the respondent's motivation may tend to mitigate her misconduct but does not excuse it.

In its prosecution of this case, the bar has tried to prevent these proceedings from being turned into an indictment of Central Florida Legal Services, the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services and the entire judicial system. However, the respondent has attempted to do just that by having the referee and this Court make a determination of quilt concerning the sexual abuse allegations against Robert Ricks. Such a finding is beyond the scope of a bar disciplinary proceeding. At page 47 of her brief, the respondent surmises that there have been no other cases concerning whether an attorney should disclose information to prevent the crime of sexual battery on children because "everyone in the legal universe, with the exception of The Florida Bar and the referee in this case, recognizes that sexual assault of children is a crime which is to be prevented". The Florida Bar agrees that sexual assault of children is a crime which is to be prevented but the fact is, no court of law or any authority has charged or convicted Robert Ricks of sexually abusing any of his children. No one, other than the respondent, has suggested that Robin Ricks is guilty of a crime by allowing her husband to

sexually abuse their children. Only the respondent, based upon her own evaluation of the documents and records, believes there is "overwhelming evidence against the father". (RB p. 28). Surely if the evidence was so overwhelming, at least one of the many people involved in the Ricks case would have agreed with the respondent and pursued prosecution of Robert Ricks for sexually abusing his children. The respondent could not explain why she was the only one who thought the evidence showed Mr. Ricks had been sexually abusing his children other than to suggest "federal corruption" or some sort of conspiracy by the persons involved in the Ricks case. (T. Vol. II pp. 183, 187).

Again, the real issue in this case is not whether Robert Ricks should be prosecuted for sexually abusing his children. The issue is whether the respondent's conduct violated the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. The respondent admitted that her conduct did violate the rules and the referee made that finding. Because the respondent has violated the rules, a discipline should be imposed. The referee recommended the respondent receive a public reprimand and the bar agrees that such a discipline would be in accordance with the purposes of attorney discipline. Those purposes were enumerated in The Florida Bar v. Lord, 433 So. 2d 983, 986 (Fla. 1983) and its progeny which state that the judgment should be fair to society, fair to the attorney, and that it will sufficiently deter other attorneys from engaging in similar misconduct. There are no errors by the referee in fact or law for this Court to

remedy in that the referee's findings and recommendations were based upon clear and convincing evidence.

ISSUE IV

THE REFEREE RECOMMENDED THAT COSTS BE ASSESSED AGAINST THE RESPONDENT PURSUANT TO THE RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR AND THEREFORE, THE FLORIDA BAR DID NOT FAIL TO PLEA ENTITLEMENT TO COSTS NOR DID THE FLORIDA BAR WAIVE SAID COSTS.

ISSUE V

IT WAS WITHIN THE REFEREE'S DISCRETION TO ASSESS COSTS AGAINST THE RESPONDENT IN THE AMOUNT OF \$3,310.18.

At the conclusion of the final hearing on October 4, 1993, the referee brought up the subject of the assessment of costs. The referee specifically stated that she was reserving ruling on the violation charged against the respondent but that if a violation was found, the cost issue would have to be addressed. The referee stated:

I do not believe it would be judicial economy or economic for anyone to come back to address that matter, and I would like to know if we can address what would be the cost to be assessed in the event the Referee finds a violation--guilty of a violation here. (T.Vol.II pp. 196-197).

Bar counsel advised the referee that he had provided the respondent with a preliminary affidavit of the bar's costs which would need to be updated and finalized. Bar counsel submitted to the referee the preliminary affidavit of costs "in an effort of judicial economy". (T.Vol.II pp. 197-198). On October 15, 1993, bar counsel submitted to the referee and the respondent a final affidavit of costs and on October 25, 1993, submitted an amended affidavit of costs. In the referee's report, she recommended costs be assessed against the respondent and she utilized the costs as listed in the bar's amended affidavit of costs.

The respondent was provided with copies of three separate affidavits of costs which kept her apprised of the costs the bar intended to seek against her. The referee indicated that she did not want to conduct another hearing to decide costs and accepted the bar's affidavits of costs as the costs to be assessed should a guilty recommendation be entered against the respondent. R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.5(k)(1)(E) states that the report of referee shall include "a statement of costs incurred by The Florida Bar and recommendations as to the manner in which such costs should be taxed". In this case, the referee recommended that costs be taxed against the respondent in the amount of \$3,310.18.

The respondent cites several civil cases to support her claim that because the bar did not specifically include a plea for costs in the complaint or affirmatively plea for costs before the referee rendered her decision, then the bar has waived entitlement to costs. The respondent's reliance on the civil case law is misplaced. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Davis</u>, 419 So. 2d 325 (Fla. 1982), the Court stated in addressing whether costs were to be assessed in favor of the bar:

We have set no hard or fast rules relative to the assessment of costs in disciplinary proceedings. In civil actions the general rule in regard to costs is that they follow the result of the suit, and in equity the allowance of costs rests in the discretion of the court.

We hold that the discretionary approach should be used in

disciplinary actions. (At p. 328).

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